Chapter XXXIII.

Concord: 1825-30.
The pageantry of that June doy in [825 when Lafaysits mad: his memora
zble visit to Concord,had as its setting a town of simple dignity.Tke
?"Guest”had already seen most of the lmportant citles of the young natim:
ha had visited the wsstern frontier and had been entsrtained in St.lLouils
which was just emerglng from its years as a trading post.In Concord he
found nothing imposing,nothing of the nic?uresque:just a small town in
process of assuming the dlgnity sultabls to a2 capital clty.Only a ceatury

s north of Horseshoe pond were clalmed by Wate

(o))

had pésseﬁ since the fiel
tanummon ané his sons:only thrz2e generations had been born since log
houses linsd thz main street.BEach generation built for character for Con--
cord had played her part in the exhausting Indlem wars,in the Revolutiwm,
in the War of 18I2.Her resourcss had been those of simple ggricultural
life and her citizens wers men of gfodly falth gnd charseter.

The largsst towns in Hew Hampshire in I825 were Portsmouth,Dover,
Gilmanton, Sanbornton,Londonderry and_ sixth in alze was Concord with a
pooulation of about 3,000.For ten years she had been the capital of the
atate and since the time(I82%)when the northern towns of Roekingham and
Hillsborough counties had been transferred to the newly created Merrimack
county,Concord had been the county seat.Thus mgterial grewth and vprosper-
1ty had been stimulated,but Concord's conservative mind suppressed any
unseemly elation and thrift gtill prevalled in public and vprivate affaine
alike.As yet there was no crossing the Merrimack river except by fee at
toll bridge or ferry but travel was so increaging that public demand
nad recently made the First N.H.Turnpike into a "free roadjgreatly to

the advantage of trade,Over this route'with a course as direct as possi-

]

ble,avolding the mountainous ridges",a traveller with good horses might

cover the forty-three miles from Fedsral brifige to Portsmouth in about

hslf a day.
It was in thls year of 1825 that Rev.Nathaniel Bouton began his lorg
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;nd fruitful vpastorate of First Church.Fifty ysars later,in an anniversry
fwrmon(June I17,I875)he described the town as it appeared when he first
érrived.@nly about half the popyulation lived in the village,the res’ had
‘homes on the outlying farms.The village houses with few exceptions,were
;Mﬁng the main street and even there,many vacant and neglected lots wers
to be found.The new State House wag drawing trade to the seetion betweew.
Centre rosd and Hopkinton road,but in 2ll that area Lheré were only fifs
teen dwellins which included thrse taverns.South of Hopkinton road theres
vers only fourteen dwellings:indeed,the south end was still a nelghborhoodé
of small farmi?which Lewis Downing's first carriage shop seemed strangely
out of nlace.

Other streets in the village were almost negligible and had no of-
ficial names."Back Street"(now State St.)extendsd seuth only as far as
as Hookinton road and on 1ts westerly side there were only séven housese
Thege included the Hannaford tavern on the north corner of present Walker
st. and a smaller house next south where Ruth Turner and her sister,Sarah
Sweatt,lived adjacent to the Friends' meeting house.South of the Burying
Gronnd was David George's houge and next beyondjat the corner of presemt
Franklin St.,was Capt.Benjamin Emery's homestead. The granite prison occu-
pled the land betwssn.present Tremont and Beacon Sts.and south of it on
2 1ot next west of present No.34 Washington St.,stood a house which was
orobably built by John P.Gass and Dearborn Johnson who,as early as 1819
were vartners in shivping via the Concord Boating Co.,the graniter cut by
convict labor.This house was doubtless reckoned as on Back St. but it long
ago dilsanpeared. ,

In I824 Peter Elkins,tinsmith bought the east half of this propeé}
and John Titcomb,wheelwright,bought the west half and jointly they pur-
chagsed the lot next west.There they bullt the double house standling today
at 46-48 Washington St.and both families made their homes there.john Tit-

comb occupied the west half of the house and bullt his shop close by.To-
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day the shop has been made into the dwelling at 50 Washington St.The
quesr northwest corner at the intersection of No.State and Washington S&°
may dste back to the time when a path was worn from Back St.to tlese
oldtime homes.On the south side of Washington St.and a little west of
Back St.thers stood in I82I,"a small dwelling house"sold that yesar by
Daniel Cooledge to Ruth Haseltine(Mrs.Joseph)who owned 1t until I832.
Very near 1t stood a large house buillt by John Emerscon in I8I7.It has
been raised on a new foundation and othsrwise msderilzed.lt still stands,
at IQ7 No.3tate St.

In 1825 there were no houses gouth of the Emerson house until one
reached the PBell schoolhouse(sits of Parker School) .liext south of the
school on ths site of ithe Christian Scilence church,stcod the mansion
house of Gaorgs Hough,completing the 1ist of housges on thz wegt gide of
Rack $t. On the =agt sids of the strest there'were nst more than two
houses since this land was 1ncluded in the houselots lald out on the
wast side of the main street.The Davis houge(IO2 No.3tate St.)and the
Buswell house( /3 Franklin ?t.)seem to have been the only ones standing.
According to Asa MaFarlan@if“u,iwellings on Back St.at this period were
regarded as"somewhat bleak abodes" by the folk on the more thickly set=-
tled maln streset.To the west there wasg swsmp land overgrown with alders
and other shrubs,extending from ths vrison south for the entire length
of the village.The rising ground still further west was pasture and til-
lage land,the northern part belng known as"Sand Hillf'

"High st:k@reen St.) was half laid out from Hopkinton road toward
the north with thres small one-story houses standing thereon.School Ste.
wes merely a lane leading from the main street to the Bell schoolhouse,
while cur present West,South,Hall,Centre,Penacook and N.3tate St.-north
of Panacook 3t.=were merely'country roads"leading to the ocutlylung farms
and te neighbering towns.

The main street in I825 was gtill umgraded,cut acresgs by deep
vrook gullies.Tanyard brook near the Tool of present Montgomery St.,was
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so deep that during the winter,the boys of the town found excelleat slid-

ing from the vicinity of Bridge $t. dowr into the bropk bed.The new plank
bridge over the gully was for pedestriansg only.

Our pleture of Maln St. was taken in later ysars after the gully
was Tilled in but it shows thls neighborhood otherwise ag it looked in
I825.At the left 1s the white fence in front of the home of Rev.Asa McFan
1snd and at the right is the lot where the Court House was z%“"built.Next
gouth may be séen an old houce with brick ends on the site now oceupied
by ly;ter Block.Thls was known ag the Susen 3.Kneeland house and in 1828
1t was the proverty of helrs of Dr.McParland.Susanna Sewall Kneeland was
the mothsr of ¥rs.McFarland and the widow of a prospervus Boston merchant.
Upon her dsath in IB808 here in Councord at her daughter's home,this hous
evidently was ths Iinherltance of the MceFarland family.It wasg gold to
Isaac Clement,a Hooksett maehinist,who moved to Concord sbout 1828 and
shortly aequired the old tanyard next south of hle house,including the
0il mill which gtood six rods wp the brook from the highway.Down in the
gully gtoed a shop kept im later years by James Baton,gunsmith, and when
the eully wag filled in,this shop was raised to th= new sireet lsvel amd,
with slterations,still stands at I53 No.Main St.When Lyster's Block was
bullt the execavation reached eighteen feet beiow the present street lev -
el and at that devnth there were found scraps of leather from Capt.Ayar's
0ld tanyard,testifying to the original depth of the old gully.In I835
Igsaac Clement sold hils dwelling house to George Hopklinson,a hatter from
Meredithyand the Eaton shop passed from owner to owner,at cne time being
occupiéé by Monroe Brothers as a confectloner shop.

Direstly acrosg from the tanyard and on the esst side of the main
street stood the hay scales famous among the small boys of the day.Jamss
Ayer,s@mfef Capt.Rlchard,wss ln echarge and when a hay cart.appeared for
its welghing,a crowd of youngsters always gathered around.It took skill

for the driwver to cheek his oxXen at exaestly the right spot so the load
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rested on the pvlatform.If he drove a little too far,he was obliged to

gwing around in a great circle and make a gecond gpproach.When the cart
wvas provsrly placed the oxen were unhitched and the tongue of the cart
gugvended by a chain from the roof.Mr.Ayer turned a crank and the load

vag slowly ralsed froéﬁ%looring.The welgher made the erank fast and then
disavppeared into a little cubbyhole at the east end where a table of
weights hung on the wall.There he figured out the exact weight of the lmad
on a slate.This gsction of the maln street was long known as"Smoky Hollow"
a name swnich probably dates back to the yearg before the gully was filled
in.

Education of her children had slways been df prime importance to
Concord and to that end,the town added twoc new schoolhouses to her equip-
ment .For gaveral years there . had been agitation for the abandonment of
the o0ld pest house gtill in use ag the North #nd school.At last,in the
soring of I820,1it had been gsold at auction and'removed and the short
th«broughfare rnow-called Bouton St.(formerly Fisre 3t.)was opened acros
the lot.The TIth District leassd a portidn of the originasl parsonage lat
gouth of David George's house and built thereon the first brick school-
housz 1n the town.It was saild to be the very finest school building in
the county and possibly the finegt in the entire state.3ome of the cltl
zeng felt that it might be too fine and its cost was criticized as un-
necessarily extravagant.The feeling came to a head when Capt.Joseph Walk-
er,chairman of the bullding committee,vresented a claim relative to its
cogt at a school meeting.The voters refused to avprove the bill,whereupon
the chairman got the key to the bullding and notifled the district that
no sesgsions should be held there until his claim wés paid.The blll was
speedily settled.

This school stood rather closely to uvres:nt Church 3t.in the south~
west corner of its junction with State St.as is shown Dy ouf copy of an

51d ovhotograph.Some of the children in the vlcture are still 1living(I945)
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}n Concord.Tﬁe bullding contained twon roomsons for the primary grades
on the first floor and one for the grammar schoosl on the second floor.

Shortly after this school was built,District No.9 at the South End
bought a gmall lot from the Shute farm on Wegtl St.anﬁyerecteﬁ there a
one room brick schoolhouse.lt wag furnished witn the gustomary double
desksg with enormously heavy 1ids and,a real luxury for those times,a
cagt iron stove placed in the center of tus room.Teacher'sg des' was nesar
a3 window on the gireet slde and the girls sat facing the south while the

.
boys' deseva faced west.Our picturs shows ths school as 1t was then.In
1848 1t wag purchased by Benjamiﬁ\ﬁolfe who remodelied it into a dwellling
any it stands at 8 west St.

The children in the central part of the town continued to go to the
Bell schicolhouse until I846 when that bullding was ranlaced by Concord's
first High School,shown in out picture.lhe builéing provided far orimary,
intermedliate and grammar grades as well ag for High School classes.

In the neighborhood of tne old West 3t.school,several old houses
dating back a csntury or more ars gtill gtanding.lhey will be found on
Yaj.Lewis Downing's map{Chavter XIT).The Willey house,the vartous Shute
houges and tne butterg house have already been mentioned.The map 1s in
error as to the Mills house which stands at 45 Wegt St.on the corner of
¥ills St. which runs through the old Milis farm.The houss has heen remod-
elled and bears little resemblance to the story and half farm house of
its early days.The house of John Scales,a pump maker,stood wegt(notceast §
of the Miils house until fire desﬁroyed it years ago.The Glover house
stands at 6% West St.and was built about I8I2 by Ebenezer Glover who was
a'stone layer"according to Concord's first directory. A later owner was
Samuel Dekin whose son,John Dakin,was born in this house and gave to
the writer the eorrect information about this group of old houses on
west 3t.0pposlte the Glover-Dakin house there stood a century and more

H

ago,the houss of Daniel Rogers.Moved later,it stands now at 65 Downing Ste
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Changes in the old farms along ths south end of the main strsst have

bezn noted in Chanters XII and XXII.lhs Haseltine farm recently owned

by the Harrlis family was being sold in housslots and a newcomer i,o0 Con-
cord, Samnson Bullard(b.in Mason,N.H)had nurchased the north section of
the farm for development.Mr.Bullard arrived in town about I8I9 and speed
ily identifled himsslf with entervrises 6efini£ely affecting the develop-
ment of Concord.In IB82% he was building the brick house which is now
owneg and occupied by the Masonic Grand Lodge.This o0ld homestead has en-
dured more drastic transformatlon than any other bullding now standing
in town.One 1dentifying mark remaing:a granlte keystone with the date
"1825" over the front door.

In I83%4 the vlace became the proverty of Benjamin Thompson of An-
dover wh» desveloped it into the Thompsonian Infirmary where he vpracticed
a botanical cure.Our picture shows this institution with the original
Bullard house at the north end .By 1842 the cure had gone ths way of all
sucs unsclilentific enterprise and the long wooden addition was converted
into tenements which,1in later years,werse destroyed by fire.The next ownr
ar after the fire,was Benjamin A.Kigpball who cleared the wreckage and
enlargad and adorned the old brick house according to the standard of
"Romanszsgue architecture".Mr.Kimbéll lived there until his death and his
will orovided that the mansion-then the most pretentious in Concord-shodc
become ihe propverty of the state,to be used as a residedescfor the gov-
ernor.Iin view of the cost involved in uvksep,ths state declined the gift
and the property was sold to Bektash Temvle and the Capitol Thestre was
bullt adjacent to the old Byllard house.

A few years after bullding this brick house,Mr.Bullard undertook
to open up the South St.end of hils portion of the Haseltine farm for
building lots and he offered his friend,John Leach,a free lot on condi-
tion thet he bulld a two-story house thereon.Current opinion wasthat

"one might as well live in Bow'as on this old"country road"sws Leach did
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not accept the pnroposition.Sometime in ths thifles,Bullard himself builtg
thz house at I2 South St. and probably lived there to prove that South
3t. was not imposgseible ag a residentisl section.

Sampson Bullard began his business career in Concord by keeping
stors next south of the homestead of Sherburne Wiggin,but by I825 he had
embarked in the distillery business in a large one-story building which
he erected on Rallroad Square on the site of R:ée. FEbc\’<Zo.

A brook which rarxeaﬁt:of;his;DnﬁpartyA wag convanient to his purpose
and he bullt a"subterranean water course" into 1t,taking his water from
a suoply on the main street which was piped from springs on Georgs Kent's
vlace(site of Home for the Aged) .According to a temperance advocate of
later years,the still house"began to send uvp its filthy fumes and smoke"
and turned into potent rum innumerable hogsheads of West Indies molasses
ghippned via the Boatling Company.Durlng one of the recurrent freshets to
which Concord 1s subject,it 1sg saild that a ceonsignment of molasses was
landed at the very door of the distillery.

Moral conditiong in Concord were changing-not for the better- and
many of the townspszovple attributed the fact to the prevalence of hard
drinking.3hortly after the distillery began overations,Rev.Nathanliel
Bouton who was to lead the temperance reform movement in town,describsed
the situation thus:"Evsry English and W.I.goods store in town-nine in
number-sold ardent spirite,not only in large quantities,but by the glass,
to be drunk at the counter.Bvery tavern-ten in number-kevnt open bar,evey
orchard produced cider and ten té twelve barrels were gtored in the fam=--
1ly cellar.Some farmers who employed a number of hands used twenty-five
to thirty barrelsg of clder in a season.Habltusl drunkeness, povarly and
pauperism increassd although the average liquor drunk in Concord was a
little under the average for the entire U.S." (Discourse I2/I0/43)

Sobriety,moderation,self-control were losing ground and a local

distillery was ths final disintegrating influsnce.The agitation for
reform centsred upon it and on Fast Day_;827,the young minister preached
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the firet of hlg many fearless attacks on intemperance.lt caused a sensa-
tion and made gsome wversonal snemies for the minister,but it gave impatus
to the temperance movement in Concord.Other fearlesg men rallied tu Mpr.
Bouton and,as a digect regult of the agltation then begun,the distillery
clogsed its doors in I83%&6.Ten years later the bullding was consumed by
fire.

On that June day when G@H-Laf&yette rode uvn our main gtreet,the
Bullard houge was unfinlshed but Sampson Bullard had alrsady comnleted
the briclk residence which stands at I72 No.Mein St.and Bouton gays this
wag the only brick dwelling in the village in I825(Anniv.Sermon 6/17/79
The lot on which this brick house stands was purchaged by Dr.Chadbourne
from the Stlckney egtate and Mr.bullard financed its building.In I829
the house was gold to John Estabrook,an estimable young man from Hopkine
torn,who married the daughter of Nathanlel Abbo? of the North End,in July
of the same year.When Fresident Jsckson visited Concord in 1833, he lodsed;
at the new liagle Coffee Houge,but it was felt that no room in the hotel ‘
was properly furnished for the distinguished guest and Mrs.Bgtabrook

loaned her best mahogany bed for his use.In the fall of tnat same year,

¥r.Lstabrook,returning from a trip to Sew York,lost his life in the trag £y

ic explosion on the steamboat"New England'" on the Connecticut river oppo-
gite the town of Bsgex.

In 1845 tne brick house was vurchagsad by Onslow Stearns,the ‘f
young building agent of the new rallroad recently completed to Concord. :
Mr.Stearng was a man of unusual energy and great executive ablility.Fhe

railroad was hils opportunity and in a few years he had become its presi-

dent and a financial and political power: in the state.He Justifled hils 1
prosperity by a high tyve of citlzenship.When Mr.Stearnsg bought the housef
its brick walls were covered with the mastic in faghion in that day,but :

in recent years that covering has been removed.Mrs:Stearns enlarged and

modified the house transforming it into a mansion of spacilous elegance.
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Yrs.Stearns was a gracloug lady whose hogpitality in her home made the
pansion famous among the ncted people who were its guszsts.

In 1869 Mr.Stearns wags governor of the state and in August of that
year,Presideni Urant mads an informal visit to Concord,accompanied by hic
wife,gon and daughter,tw> members of his cabinst and his private gecreta-
ry,%en.lorace Porter.lhs party wag entertsined at the Stearne home for it
was the governor's personél influence whicn had psrsuaded the Prssident
to tarry for a night on his way to the White Mountains.A great rsception
was hélﬁ in the State House yard,followed by a dinner and evening party
at the govsrnor's home .Next ﬁorning,wathaniel ythite drove around with
hig finest svan and took the Pregsident(himself a lover of good horsss)
for a drive about the city before the party left for tine north country.

Mres.S9tearns often told the story of her consternation when one of
the fourteen guests invited for the dinner,wag\éaken guddenly 111 and
could not attend.The dresaded number of thirteen sat down at table,but
the hogtess anncunced that she would incur the grewsoms penalty by rising
first from the teble,thus putiing any superstitious guesgt at ease.As a
metter of fact Mrs.Stesrns lived for many years to come,thus disproving
thz ancient superstition.

In I1877,President Hayes,his wife and sons,with Vice President
Wheeler and other notables,vizited Concord and were entertainedat the
Stearns mansion.lMr.8tearns took the vparty to Hanover to inspect Dart-
mouth college.Anosther famous guest was Gen.Willlam T.3herman who visited
Concord gnon aftsr the Civil War.Thus, for many years,the first brick
dws1lling house on our main gtreet ranked high as a2 home of hospitality,
rivalled by no other in Concord history,save that of earlier daysg~the
home of Col.Willlam A.Kent.

At some later date a third brick dwelling was buillt which ls la-
belled "Mrs.Huirris'on Lewls Downing,Jr.'s mav.It has been attributed to

thas pericd I800-~1820 but this conflicts with Bouton's stoztement that the
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Chadbourne Estabrook-3tearns house was the only brick dwelling in the
village in I825.After Robzrt Harrig's death{I822)the members of his fam-
ily left Concord with the exceptlon of a daswghter,Hsrriet.In 1825 ghe
bought an 8 acre section of the 0ld Haszltine farm next south of the Bul -
lard proverty and she may have built this house standing at 50 S.M=in St.
today .Until I8I%5 Pallard tlaseltins had kevt this remnant of higs grandfath
er's old farm.In I844 Elliott Chickering lived in this "Mres.harris'house
and in later years i1t was the home of Hon.Ira kastman and more recently,
that of John M.H1ll.

The most nosable new building in 18?5 was the First Baptist church.
For nearly a century ths old Meeting-house of the Congregational faith
had besn the only house of worship in the town,excent for thz small and
gimple bullding where th= Friends held meeting.%ince 18I8 the Baptists
in town had held serviceg with more or lesg rezularity and had so grown
in numbere and lmportance that a church bullding was esgential.Col,Wil-
liam A.Kent owned considerable vacant land along State 3t.in the viclnity
of the State House and he donated a lot for the entervrise.There were va-
rious reasons for his interest:he wss public epirited and felt that a ¢
do=-n town church would be an asset to the communlity and,although he was
an attendant at the o0ld Meeting-house,he was a liberal in theology and
hesitated not to show his sywpathy with non-conformists.

Our picture shows the original edifice which,altered and enlarged,
stands today the oldegt church bullding in Concord.The small windows on
gither side the entrance of the vresent day church are original and indl-
cate the size of all the original windows.A bell from the Revere factory
in Boston was purchased by subscription and a clock was installed in tle
gsteceple.In later years when the Board of Trade clock was lnstalled the
church sold its eclock out of town.The bedl,unfortunatsly,was traded for

!
a new ons.Sometime prior to IB39 a vestry was bulltnext south of the

church~"a long,blsak two-story structure' -in the second story of which
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Prof.Hall Rob““ts a good Baptisi'kept a private gchool.This vestiry cone
verted Into a twoe famlly house wow stands at 4-0 Tzhanto St.

The position of the church broadside Lo ihe street ig unusual and
tradition explains the fact thus:The bullding committes met on ths preme
lees one dsy to discuss the location and an old sea captainstrolling by
stopped to make Triendly laculries aboul the wplans.The committes respgaed
that the flrst question was how the church should bhe vlaced on the lot.
"Why jbrethren”,saild the captain,"place her broadasids to the wharfithat's
the way we always took on passengers."And so she stands today as shs has
stond through long years,reéady to take on pasgssengsrs for Heaven.In the
esrly days the Baptisks often held their ceremony of immersion in a poal

vhich was the sourece of West brook located nsar Beacon 3t.between Jackson
and Lyndon 3tg.Frank West Rolling when a hoy,had a boat on lhis pool and

relates that he poled it down the brook as far as the wall of the old
prison=-2 tale which seeuws fantastic today.

Herastofore,except for the Siate House,there had been no thought giv -~
to architectural style in the hbullding enterprize in Concord.The old
Meeting-house was just another barn-like structure such as wmight pe found
ir many a New England community;the Town Hous2 had been furbished up in
recenti years with an ornamental ceolonnade utterly inconsistent with its

general vroportions,and the dwslllings of the wveriod were,as a rule,nere=-

1y four walls and a roof to enclose the desired number of rooms.When 3tu-

art J.Park designed the State House Lie set z standard for somsthing beyong

utilitarian values and proved to Councerd that in archiltect's professgion

lg wortlh while.
when the Pirst Baptist 3ocisty preparsed to bdbulld,Johan Leach of Dune

parton had just moved to town with aspirations to be an architect,al-

though the first Concord dire ctory(I830)1lists him mersly as"csrpenter

and joiner."Leach found his filrst real ovrortunity in building this new
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church.Concord has later examples of his creative abillity:the G3&¢-Butld-
The beltdin e at2/4 No. Main SE B

ing~of- the N.H-Higkorical Soctety built in 1826 for the Merrimeck County
Bank-a fine bullding which went far tc solace the Vorth End for its fail -
ure to locate the State nouse: the Unitarizn church (I829) was desgtroyed
by fire but a number of dwelling hsuses#till gtand.Tweg of these,unidue

in Concord at the time of building were the house on the north corner

of Feyette St.and S .Main,bullt for Samuel and FPhilip Farrington of Hop-
kinton{grandsons of pioneer Stephen Farrington)and the house at 36 $.Main
S:.whbre en.dogeph Low lived in the north apartment.gbth nouses were bullt
prior to I830.

John Leach prosnersd and in I826 he purchased an extensive property
on the east glde of the maln street oonposite Honkinton rcad.it included
land lately in possession of Nathaniel Ladd;tanner(and also known as
the Shapleigh place),the Sherburns Wiggin houge which was the tavern bullt
by Hannah Osgood after her husband's death,and,scross "a Gangway" twelve
feet wide(now Depot Sﬁ.),a vacant lot.0n this lot,now the site of Fﬁtch-
Murray Co.,Leach 1ndulge§ himself by building a large house'famsd for its
unique bew windows and other architectural features."For years this big
wood=n bullding stoed untll all avout it there rose tall brick blocks
devoted to business.An old plcture of Yain St.gshows a bit of its cornsr
next sputh of the newly erscted Phenix Hall.By that time John Leach's old
home had been transform2d into stores on the ground floor and cheap tene-
menta above.lLeach's last years were spent in ths brick house which he
built at IO Fayette 3t. and which 3till remalins mueh as he planned it.
our Main St.vnicture shows ths original esntrance of tnh2 vregent Phenlix Ho-
tel(built I35Y) with its colusns.Next nortn are twe brick blocke and bepnd
that,on the oresznt site of Emmons 3tore,ils the famous Athecian Hall wizh
ite gable end tp the street.The H2]ll burned in I866.

In 1825 the towaspennle still lived simyly according to Asa McFar-

land,Jr.Fev homes had ecarpets on the floor and a homemade one was consld-
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ed a r2al luxury.Even the"best room" often had a sanded flcor.Farm houses
‘wre gzldom painted elthsr inside or out,and while a cook stove might be
found in the kitchen,the brick oven,the Dutch oven and the fireplace with
1ts crane and kettles were gtill the devendables for cooking.reople still
travalled on horssback with a pilllion for the goodwife,or in heavily built
vagons;while winter brought out the high-baeked sleigh flllsed with straw,
lankets and comforters for warmth.The new minister owned a Downling chaise
of the"bellows top”variety and a few other citizens indulged in similar
conveyhnces.

Thers was not & viano in the entire town ,although at the yrivate
school conducted at the North Znd by the Misses White,a harpgichord was a -’
part of th: aquivment(I823) .Horticultnre was of the simolest: a few pala-
table apples vere producsd but there were not ten pear trees in the whole
town and grapes were very rare.Uarden flowers Were limited:the red rose,
China aster,pinks,marigolds,poppies,1adies' delight and sunflower wers the:
only varieties common to the gardens.

The most notabls prepgress of tae period wasg the erection of two
important brick ﬁlocks in I826.Wnen its charter expired,the Upper Bank
officials obtained a new one under the name of Merrimack County Bank.Tke
0l1d Livermore house was no longsr adequate as guarters and so John ?each
was commissioned to desgign the bullding already referred to.It is a threse
gtory brick block bullt on the lot next south of the site of the Llvermore
nouse,prlanned to afford gquarters for two banks on the ground floor and of’
fice rooms on the second floor.The top floor was planned for a public hall
but later it wss used by the N.H.Historilcal Soclety(1840) .The completed
gtructure was'the pride of the Worth End"to quote Asa McFarland,Jr.again’.
Until recent years the bullding had two entrances,the north one opening

ints the Merrimack County Bank.The gouth door ovnened into the drug storg

of Dr.Samuel Morril until the 1.H.Savings Bank began business there in

18%0.The second floor offices were occupled by various lawysrs-among tasm
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being young Franklin Plerce,and sometimes public officials occupied these
quarters.Dr.Bouton used one of the rooms ae & ctudy when he wrote his
Higtory of Concord.In recent years this handsome 0ld building was pur-
chaged by the W.He.Hlistorical Society for use as & museum.

The South Enders were not left too enviocus for Isasc Hill began
his new brick block on the lot next south of the State House in this
same year of I826.His success with the Patriot and the Pranklin Bookstore
hac¢ quite outgrown the sncilent building on ths site of present Emmons
Stofe and he, too,employed John Leach to design the massive thres story
gtructure shown in cur plcture.it wag a practical building but Leach,
himgelf,is sald to have held it in legs ssteem than the Bank building
which was his speclal pride.The brigk for Hill's BElock and doubtless for
other building; of that date,was the product of Col.gohn Carter's brick
yard near the Bow line. ,

OQur plcture of’%ill's Block 1s revroduced from an old wood cut
made, presumably, some years after itsg complatlon since the vassway beiweep®!
1t and the Columbiaﬂ Hotel next south,is ¢o be seen.This passway to land
in the rear was opened by Landlord Mical Tubbs after he took over the .
tavern in I835.Since Capitol St.was not opened untll years later,this n
vagsway wag a necegsity not only for the tavern yard in the rear but for
variocus small enterprisses whiek flourished along the south wall of the
state Houge grounds.Now and then a caravan gshow get up its equipment in
area of the tavern yard and ons of the first of these to arrive in town -
was "The Grand €ara§an of Living Animals"-few in number,alas'-in the gum-~
mer of I828.A busy blacksmith shop operated then or later by Bradbury ¢ [
Gill,was 1n the rear of H1ill's Block.

As soon ag the block was completed the Patriot moved in and the
w2ll-known sign of the Franklin Bookstore was hung over the north door-

way of the buillding.There it remalned until fire destroyed the upper

part of the block in 186Q,and when Sanborn's Elock wasg buillt on approxi-
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ately the same slte,ths old sign was rehung for =z new bookatore and re-
2ained there until IB889.It is now in ﬁg#:;§éfﬁéiié§ﬁgw@f the N.H.Histor-
cal Soclety.William Low made and lattered the gign in I8I0 and“an artist
f some note" named Mershall,vainted ths vorirait of the famous Benjaminaf
‘or whom the gtore was named.After I848,Franklin Fisrce's law cffice was
lirectlly above the Franklin Bookgtore in Hill's Block,

The first cccuvaunt of the middle stors in ths new block was Col.
ayid Davie,Jr.who advertised in the Patriot(9/24/27)"dry goods,cloths,
and groceries".In addition he secursd the services of"william Restileaux
>’ Poston,fashlionable tailor"-a young man destined to become one of the
town's most substantlal citizens.The south end of the block was finished
into a public hall called Franklin Hall,and,slince it was ihe best .in
town,it was in demand for e: xhibitiong,leglslative caucuses,public mbet—
inge and occaslonal eatertainments.A dramatic club called"The Hyrtle
"reath'gave theatricals there and it was in this hall that Richsrd Potta

: (XY
of FPotter Plate,Andover,gave his famous show,The East Indiaman",admissia

“

25 .

with growth in business and increass in stage travel,a nsw public

houge was needed and in I827,William Richardson undertook the enterprise
choosging for a gsite the south end of the S{ickney farm.There,directly
oprogite ths State House,he bullt a two gtory structure of wood which
was vainted white with green blinds.Avpnropriately senough,lt was named
for the vroud bilrd perched upon the State House dome-Eagle Coffee House.
én ths east side of the house an ell was buillt in which Ereclan Hgll
began active rivalry with Franklin Hall across the way.Of many scenes of
gayety in Grecian Hall,the first was the Jackson ball whicn crowned

the Bhe fegtivitieg marking tns anniverssry in I828,c¢f Gen. Jackson 8
victory at New Orleans in the War of I8I2.It wag here that the firts
rengrioire Lroop of professionals appeared in' Concord and,in the summer

of 1I828,produced among other classicsg the play of Othello.Concord was



